# FILE COPY

### DO NOT REMOVE FROM FILE

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF APPEALS OF WEST VIROLNIA SEP | 6 2019

No. 19-0527

Bison Interests, LLC, Defendant Below, Petitioner,

VS.

Appeal from a final order of the Circuit Court of Harrison County (Case No. 18-C-271-2)

EDYTHE NASH GAISER, CLERK SUPREME COURT OF APPEALS OF WEST VIRGINIA

Antero Resources Corporation, Plaintiff Below, Respondent,

and

CGAS Properties, L.P., Plaintiff Below, Respondent.

### BRIEF OF PETITIONER BISON INTERESTS, L.L.C.

#### I. ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

- A. THE CIRCUIT COURT ERRED IN GRANTING SUMMARY JUDGMENT TO ANTERO RESOURCES CORPORATION AND AGAINST BISON INTERESTS, L.L.C. AS OWNERSHIP OF THE ASH/CLARK LEASE MARCELLUS HYDROCARBON ESTATES, AND ENTITLEMENT TO THE RELATED OVERRIDING ROYALTY INTEREST PAYMENTS, WAS PREVIOUSLY LITIGATED TO CONCLUSION IN CIVIL ACTION NO. 15-C-124-1 SUCH THAT ANTERO RESOURCES CORPORATION'S CLAIMS ARE BARRED BY THE DOCTRINE OF RES JUDICATA
- B. THE CIRCUIT COURT ERRED IN GRANTING SUMMARY JUDGMENT TO ANTERO RESOURCES CORPORATION AND AGAINST BISON INTERESTS, L.L.C. AS OWNERSHIP OF THE ASH/CLARK LEASE MARCELLUS HYDROCARBON ESTATES, AND ENTITLEMENT TO THE RELATED OVERRIDING ROYALTY INTEREST PAYMENTS, WAS PREVIOUSLY LITIGATED TO CONCLUSION IN CIVIL ACTION NO. 15-C-124-1 SUCH THAT ANTERO RESOURCES CORPORATION'S CLAIMS ARE BARRED BY THE DOCTRINE OF COLLATERAL ESTOPPEL
- C. THE CIRCUIT COURT ERRED IN GRANTING SUMMARY JUDGMENT TO ANTERO RESOURCES CORPORATION AND AGAINST BISON INTERESTS, L.L.C. AS EXPRESS JUDICIAL DECLARATONS AND JUDICIAL ADMISSIONS OF ANTERO RESOURCES CORPORATION CONFIRM BISON INTERESTS, L.L.C.'S PRIOR OWNERSHIP OF THE ASH/CLARK LEASE MARCELLUS HYDROCARBON ESTATES, AND ENTITLEMENT TO THE RELATED OVERRIDING ROYALTY INTEREST PAYMENTS
- D. THE CIRCUIT COURT ERRED IN GRANTING SUMMARY JUDGMENT TO ANTERO RESOURCES CORPORATION AND AGAINST BISON INTERESTS, L.L.C. AS THE PLAIN LANGUAGE OF THE GOVERNING DOCUMENTS, AND THE RULES OF CONSTRUCTION, DICTATE THAT NO DEPTH LIMITATIONS OR RESTRICTIONS ARE PRESENT SUCH THAT BISON INTERESTS, L.L.C. IS OWED OVERRIDING ROYALTIES FROM THE ASH/CLARK PRODUCTION

#### II. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

A. The Litigation of Ownership of the Ash/Clark Leasehold Estates, and Entitlement to the Ash/Clark Overriding Royalty Interests, in Civil Action No. 15-C-124-1 – The 2015 Royalty Case.

March 18, 2015, Bison Interests, LLC, ("Bison"), filed a Complaint, ("the 2015 Royalty Case"), in the Circuit Court of Harrison County, West Virginia seeking, among others, a declaration of Bison and Antero Resources Corporation's, ("AR"), respective rights and obligations with respect to the Clark and Ash Leases/overriding royalty interests. (Appx. 47-54). This case was originally assigned to the Honorable John Lewis Marks, Jr., with the Honorable Christopher J. McCarthy ultimately presiding upon Judge Marks' retirement.

Stepping back, in 2012 AR purchased certain mineral estates, primarily Marcellus shale estates, vested in Bison – including the Clark and Ash Marcellus shale leasehold estates. (Appx. 55-62). Pursuant to this Agreement, in exchange for, among others, the Clark and Ash leases estates, AR was to pay Bison a 6.25% overriding royalty interest in "the oil, gas and hydrocarbons produced and saved under the terms of the Leases [for example the Clark and Ash Leases]. (Id.). Put concisely, Bison conveyed certain mineral assets to AR, mineral assets held by current shallow well production, and AR was to pay Bison substantial up front money ("bonus money") and a percentage, 6.25% gross, from its Marcellus shale operations on the conveyed assets, such as the Ash/Clark interests. (Id.). Part of this process involved AR performing due diligence on the Ash/Clark assets – and the confirmation of Bison's title. (Id.,709, 818, 822). After AR confirmed Bison's title and ownership of, among others, the Ash/Clark leases, to Marcellus shale depths, Bison was paid, in 2012, two-thousand dollars (\$2,000.00) per acre for these assets – a total payment of eighty-five thousand dollars (\$85,000.00) for the Ash/Clark assets. (Appx. 56-62, 728).

AR's failure to pay the overriding royalties, the 6.25% gross, on, among others, production from the Clark and Ash leases was the genesis of the 2015 Royalty Case. In the 2015 Royalty

Case Bison sought: (1) payment of its overriding royalty; and (2) "a declaration of the parties' respective rights and obligations, historically and prospectively, with respect to the foregoing [the parties contractual relationship and the leases – including the Clark and Ash leases]." (Appx. 53-54). To expand, Bison discovered in late 2014 that AR had drilled certain mineral acreage in early 2012, that AR had failed to disclose this drilling and production activity to Bison, and that AR was holding substantial sums of money from production, the 6.25% gross, owed to Bison. (Appx. 48-49, 208, 209).

May 15, 2015, AR filed its Answer and Counterclaim in the 2015 Royalty Case, pleading: that AR "has no interest in the ownership of the overriding royalty interest"; and requesting that the Court "declare the rightful owner of the overriding royalty interest so that Antero can pay future royalties, if any, to said party . . . ." (emphasis added) (Appx. 67-78). Consistent with its judicial representations, AR invited a third party, CGAS Properties, L.P., into the 2015 Royalty Case. (Appx. 80-83). As made clear by AR, CGAS Properties, L.P. was invited into the 2015 Royalty Case because "Antero believes that there is a possibility of a competing overriding royalty interest on one of the leases – being the lease executed by Okey and Clara Clark [the Clark Lease]." (Id.). By its own declaration, AR was fully aware, and in fact desired to, and did, resolve all title issues in the 2015 Royalty Case. (Id.).

Obliging AR's request to litigate all title and payment issues in the 2015 Royalty Case, by Order entered September 2, 2015, CGAS Properties, L.P. became a party – so that all parties could litigate ownership of the Ash/Clark assets in the 2015 Royalty Case. (Appx. 106-107).

Bison's litigation was immediately productive as by September 10, 2015, roughly five (5) months after the filing of the 2015 Royalty Case, AR conceded that Bison was entitled to the Ash overriding royalty payment – and AR paid Bison \$104,257.55 of Ash overriding royalty monies.

(Appx. 110-126). It should be noted that a period of forty-five (45) months transpired between initial production on the Ash lease, and eventual payment to Bison – and that AR had no intent to pay Bison, or any other entity such as CGAS Properties, L.P., these owed royalty proceeds without litigation. (Id.).

Given that other assets, for example the Clark overriding royalty, remained in dispute the 2015 Royalty Case continued towards trial. Indeed, by February 12, 2016, AR still had not paid Bison for the Clark acreage – as AR contended, different from the Ash overriding royalty, that a dispute existed with CGAS Properties, L.P. as to the Clark monies – a dispute which would be "resolved" in the 2015 Royalty Case. (Appx. 128).

March 22, 2016, Bison filed its First Amended Complaint in the 2015 Royalty Case – challenging AR's calculation of Bison's overriding royalty payments. (Appx. 130-142). Most basically, Bison's First Amended Complaint alleged that AR was paying itself a higher price than it was paying Bison – as AR had developed a complex hedging scheme whereby AR was depriving royalty owners and overriding royalty owners such as Bison from the true value of their mineral assets and interests. (Id.). AR's position, in actively asserting a Counterclaim in the 2015 Royalty Case, remained consistent: AR again stated that it was an impartial and unbiased stakeholder in requesting that the Court "declare the rightful owner of the overriding royalty interest so that Antero can pay future royalties . . . ." (emphasis added) (Appx. 166-167).

August 18, 2016, Mark F. Harison, the principal manager of Bison, was deposed in the 2015 Royalty Case – and AR and CGAS Properties, L.P. asked Mr. Harison various questions about depth limitations and the overriding royalty interests on the Ash and Clark. (Appx. 170-183).

By Agreed Orders entered August 22, 2016 and May 1, 2017, respectively, the parties declared and confirmed that "CGAS Properties, L.P." has no rights in and to overriding royalty

interest payments from deep mineral right production by Antero Resources Corporation on and under the 900-foot radius of [the Clark and Ash leases]." (emphasis added) (Appx. 185-193).

With ownership of the Ash and Clark assets, and payment of the owing overriding royalty interests, having been litigated, stipulated to and resolved by May 1, 2017, AR and Bison proceeded to litigate claims sounding in breach of contract, breach of fiduciary duty and constructive fraud – associated with AR's hedging royalty price scheme – in the 2015 Royalty Case. (See e.g. Appx. 195-203).

In the 2015 Royalty Case, AR filed various pleadings and made continual and repeated representations to the Court that ownership and overriding royalty issues were fully and finally resolved prior to trial of the 2015 Royalty Case.

For example, on August 15, 2017, AR, in objecting to Bison's Motion to Compel wherein Bison sought to discover certain documents related to the Ash lease title opinion, argued as follows to Judge McCarthy's Court:

Plaintiff's Motion should be denied because it seeks disclosure of privileged and protected title opinions. Further, the subject matter of Plaintiff's Motion is moot where the documents requested by Bison involve issues already resolved in this litigation by entry of the Agreed Order Granting Bison Interests, L.L.C.'s Motion for Partial Summary Judgment as to Certain Relief Sought via Bison Interests, L.L.C.'s Counterclaim regarding the Ash Lease, entered by the Court on May 1, 2017.

Bison's request for all communications between Antero and its counsel regarding the Ash Lease title opinions is irrelevant to the remaining claims in this litigation.

The Ash Lease title opinions go to the point of ownership of the Ash Lease acreage, which was already settled by Agreed Order Granting Bison Interests, L.L.C.'s Motion for Partial Summary Judgment as to Certain Relief Sought via Bison Interests, L.L.C.'s Counterclaim regarding the Ash Lease, entered by the Court on May 1, 2017.

(emphasis added) (Appx. 195-204).

AR also made it clear to the Court in oral argument on August 17, 2017, that all issues associated with the ownership of the Ash lease, and entitlement to the Ash overriding royalty, were resolved in the 2015 Royalty Case:

Mr. Lawrence [counsel for AR, stated as follows]:

If we go back to the filing of the complaint then, in March 2015, Cabot intervened -- when I spoke to Mr. Miller, he indicated he thought that with Cabot relinquishing any claims that it had, or CGAS, that Cabot, CGAS were no longer parties. That's why they're not here. He believes their claims had been resolved through these agreed orders. But back in March 2015, there was a question as to who had priority in interest as to the Marcellus rights that Bison now claims.

And it's not disputed by the parties, at least with respect to Ash. There was an agreed order submitted to the Court and entered by the Court, on May 1, 2017, where **CGAS acknowledged that Bison did in fact own the Marcellus rights at the bottom of their drill boreholes. So that issue was clarified.** And that was the second order. There was an earlier order [as to Clark] entered with respect to one of the other leases. **Payments were released upon entry of that order**.

And I liken the first issue that was presented in Bison's complaint, the original complaint, not the amended complaint, but the original complaint, in March 2015, was quiet title declare that Bison has superior right and interest in the Marcellus at the bottom of this borehole.

So I liken it to a block of Swiss cheese. The cheese not the hole, the cheese was Doran's. That's now Cabot's. So Cabot has an interest in the Marcellus in that block of cheese. The issue that was presented originally to the Judge, to you, to the Court, was the hole, that what we refer to as a borehole assignment, who owns the Marcellus at the bottom of the borehole? Does that borehole go all the way through the cheese, through the Marcellus? Such that Bison has an interest in that mineral, or is it depth limited?

The parties now agree that Bison owns the entire hole in the block of cheese.

This case started out as a dispute as to who owns the Marcellus in that hole. That dispute's been resolved. And we assert in the response that the title issues surrounding Ash are moot.

I'm not sure how the titles or any of those issues are even relevant to the instant dispute, because that -- that title is no longer at issue.

(emphasis added) (Appx. 224-229).

Consistent with AR's unlimited and unrestricted judicial admissions of resolution of the Ash/Clark title dispute, on or about August 29, 2017, AR issued a check to Bison in the amount of \$206,221.37 for funds from production, in part, on the Ash/Clark assets. (Appx. 227).

As trial approached in the 2015 Royalty Case, AR encouraged Bison to deposit checks related to production from the Ash and Clark acreage, with Alvyn A. Schopp, AR's Chief Administrative Office, admitting that such checks "represent Antero's payment of overriding royalty amounts not disputed by either party." (emphasis added) (Appx. 279). To be clear, these payments were for production from, among others, the Ash and Clark tracts. (Appx. 284-285).

### B. Trial of the 2015 Royalty Case – and Notable Post-Trial Events.

March 26, 2018, the 2015 Royalty Case came on for trial before the jury and the Honorable Christopher J. McCarthy. (Appx. 294). As noted in AR's Pre-Trial Memorandum, the issues tried were: [1] whether AR breached its contract with Bison by paying Bison overriding royalty payments based on amounts received from production, rather than amounts realized from Antero's financial hedging strategies; [2] whether AR breached its contract with Bison by inadvertently omitting Bison from its weekly drilling report circulation; [3] whether AR breached any fiduciary duties owed to Bison; [4] whether AR's representation constituted constructive fraud; and [5] damages, if any. (Appx. 290). Unequivocally, AR knew, as it had in fact admitted, that ownership and undisputed payment issues associated with the Ash/Clark mineral estates were resolved prior to trial in the 2015 Royalty Case.

At trial, in the opening statements, the very issue now before this Court was discussed. During the opening statement AR, through counsel and after an initial objection from Bison, admitted and conceded, yet again, to the Court that AR "completely agree[d]" that: (1) the court had ruled on this issue [the issue of ownership of the Ash/Clark deep mineral interests]; and (2)

that it was improper to suggest to the jury in Civil Action No. 15-C-124-1 that there's a question as to who owns the Ash/Clark deep mineral interests. (Appx. 843-844). Indeed, the court even noted in the 2015 Royalty Case, at trial, that the question as to ownership of the deep mineral rights had been resolved. (Appx. 844).

Nonetheless, during the 2015 Royalty Case trial AR repeatedly, over objection from Bison, attempted to inject the Ash/Clark ownership issues to confuse the jury. For example, in AR's cross-examination of Mr. Harison, Bison's managing member, AR repeatedly badgered Mr. Harison with out of context questions about the Ash/Clark interests and potential depth limitations – despite AR's prior knowledge and admission(s) that Bison owned and was entitled to payment of the Ash/Clark overriding royalty. (Appx. 584-588). AR's primary defense at trial was an attempt to confuse the jury with previously resolved title issues. (Id.). Specifically, AR asked Mr. Harison, at trial in the 2015 Royalty Case, just as AR had in Mr. Harison's deposition in the 2015 Royalty Case, questions about depth limitations, and Mr. Harison answered honestly – acknowledging that one of the drilling agreements does in fact contain a depth limitations (Id.).

At the conclusion of a five-day trial, which involved the admission of over one hundred (100) exhibits and multiple witnesses presented by both sides, the jury found that AR breached its contract with Bison – a contract which plainly included the Ash and Clark assets. (Appx. 297-299, 143-150). Put bluntly, the jury concluded that Bison was entitled to payment on the Ash and Clark overriding royalty/interests – otherwise the jury would have returned a defense verdict. (Id.).

AR ultimately satisfied the jury's verdict by payment of \$55,375.63, plus post-judgment interest, again confirming, just as the jury had, Bison's entitlement to payment of an overriding royalty on the Ash and Clark mineral acreage – and neither party filed an appeal. (Appx. 302).

Moreover, as the Partial Judgment Order accurately notes, AR solely presented defenses, not claims, in the 2015 Royalty Case. (Appx. 294).

On two occasions after the verdict was rendered in the 2015 Royalty Case, AR filed pleadings in the Northern District of West Virginia, in separate and distinct litigation wherein both Bison and AR were parties, confirming that the jury acknowledged and accepted that Bison possessed valid overriding royalty interests in AR's Marcellus Shale production on the Ash and Clark radius lease acreage. To clarify, Bison Resources Corporation, a separate entity from Bison, filed a separate suit against AR, which was ultimately removed to the Northern District of West Virginia, wherein rights of first refusal to drill were litigated relative to, among others, the Ash/Clark assets.

In AR's own federal judicial filings describing the verdict in the 2015 Royalty Case,

Simply put, BILLC <u>represented and the Court in the State Court Action</u> [the 2015 Royalty Case] <u>accepted that BILLC has an overriding royalty interest in Antero's production on the Subject Leases</u> [which include Ash/Clark], which allowed BILLC to recover damages from Antero based on a breach of contract claim under the Assignment, Bill of Sale and Conveyance.

(emphasis added) (Appx. 320). Again, on May 11, 2018, AR accurately summarized the verdict in the 2015 Royalty Case, in a federal pleading, as follows:

Stated another way, the jury [in the 2015 Royalty Case] <u>accepted BILLC's...</u> <u>position that it is entitled to an overriding royalty interest by virtue of the Assignment, Bill of Sale and Conveyance of Marcellus rights to Antero as part of its disposition of the breach of contract claim as well.</u>

(emphasis added) (Appx. 335).

Post-trial of the 2015 Royalty Case, specifically on May 15, 2018, AR filed a Combined Motion for Declaratory Judgment – seeking to contradict AR's prior admissions and the jury's finding in the 2015 Royalty Case. (Appx. 452). To be clear, dissatisfied with the jury's affirmation of Bison's entitlement to proceeds of the Ash/Clark production and the outcome of the 2015

Royalty Case AR sought to undo its prior admissions, and the jury's finding of breach of contract/affirmation of Bison's entitlement to an overriding royalty interest from the Ash/Clark mineral acreage, by requesting that the Court define the parties' rights in relation to the Ash and Clark overriding royalties. (Id.).

Incredulously, AR's filing as to this issue was made less than five (5) days after AR represented in the Northern District of West Virginia that the jury "accepted BILLC's... position that it is entitled to an overriding royalty interest by virtue of the Assignment, Bill of Sale and Conveyance of Marcellus rights to Antero." (Appx. 335). Very simply, AR injected a post-trial red herring in conflict with AR's prior admissions and concessions into the 2015 Royalty Case.

By Order entered July 20, 2018, Judge McCarthy issued a ten (10) page Memorandum Opinion and Order thoroughly addressing the proper (and plead/tried) post-trial issues which were before the Court. (Appx. 452-461). Contained within the Order, as an afterthought, is Footnote 2, which is a summary denial of AR's improper attempt to relitigate an issue previously adjudicated in the 2015 Royalty Case – an issue which the Court acknowledged was resolved prior to trial during opening statements in the 2015 Royalty Case. Footnote 2 of the Memorandum Opinion and Order is the lone provision which addresses this issue:

Antero also urges this Court to interpret the terms of the agreements between Bison and CGAS Properties, L.P., and their respective predecessors in interest, to determine Bison's entitlement to royalties on Marcellus Shale production by Antero from the Ash and Clark Leases. Third parties to a contract between two private citizens generally cannot sue to obtain a declaration as to validity of such a contract or to raise questions as to its construction. See 55-13-2, but see Shobe v. Latimer, 1979, 253 S.E.2d 54, 162 W.Va. 779. Further, in the instant case, one of the parties, CGAS Properties, L.P., whose entitlement under the agreement would be directly affected, is no longer a party to this case and, thus, would not have the opportunity to be heard on this issue. The Court, therefore, declines to address this issue in the instant action.

(Appx. 456, 843-844).

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