DO NOT REMOVE FROM FILE



IN THE SUPREME COURT OF APPEALS OF WEST VIRGINIA

DOCKET NO. 19-0527

BISON INTERESTS, LLC,

Defendant Below, Petitioner,

OCT 3 2019

EDYTHE NASH GAISER CLERK SUPREME COURT OF PREALS

ν.

ANTERO RESOURCES CORPORATION and CGAS PROPERTIES, LP,

Plaintiffs Below, 1 Respondents.

BRIEF OF RESPONDENT ANTERO RESOURCES CORPORATION

W. Henry Lawrence (W. Va. Bar #2156)
Ancil G. Ramey (W. Va. Bar #3013)
Justin A. Rubenstein (W. Va. Bar #9974)
Shaina L. Richardson (W. Va. Bar #12685)
STEPTOE & JOHNSON PLLC
400 White Oaks Boulevard
Bridgeport, WV 26330
Telephone (304) 933-8000
Facsimile (304) 933-8183
hank.lawrence@steptoe-johnson.com
ancil.ramey@steptoe-johnson.com

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

In turn, the turnkey drilling agreements clearly limit Bison's interest to shallow depths. The agreement pertinent to the Ash Lease provides:

1.3 [Doran] agrees that any well site or location, drilling and producing right, farm-out agreement or lease acquired for or on behalf of [LaMaur] for the purpose of this Agreement shall provide that [LaMaur] shall be entitled to be assigned and shall be assigned not less than 81.25% of all oil and gas reserves in place, to a depth through the Benson Sand Horizons, on the subject acreage and produced by any well drilled on such location or site.

App. 522 (emphasis added). The turnkey drilling agreement pertaining to the Clark Lease contains similar language:

1.3 [Doran] agrees that any well site or location, drilling and producing right, farm-out agreement or lease acquired for or on behalf of [LaMaur] for the purpose of this Agreement shall provide that

[LaMaur] shall be entitled to be assigned and shall be assigned not less than 81.25% of all oil and gas reserves in place, to a depth through the Bradford–Kane sand, but not to exceed 4,000 feet with regard to Pennsylvania wells, and through the Benson Sand Horizons with regard to West Virginia wells, on the subject acreage and produced by any well drilled on such location or site.

App. 542 (emphasis added). Thus, both turnkey drilling agreements limit Bison's interest to the Benson Sand and do not extend to the lower Marcellus Shale formation.

The turnkey drilling agreements are incorporated by reference into the warranty deeds of assignment. *See Thomas v. Young*, 93 W. Va. 555, 117 S.E. 909, 911 (1923) (describing the practice of incorporating by reference in a deed as "common and unobjectionable"); *Snooks v. Wingfield*, 52 W. Va. 441, 44 S.E. 277, 278 (1903) ("When a plat of premises is referred to in the grant or deed, it becomes, by legal construction, a part of the grant ordered, and is not explainable by evidence aliunde any further than if inserted in the deed or grant."). In West Virginia, a document is incorporated by reference when (1) the original document "make[s] a clear reference to the other document so that the parties' assent to the reference is unmistakable"; (2) the original document "describe[s] the other document in such terms that its identity may be ascertained beyond doubt"; and (3) it is "certain that the parties to the agreement had knowledge of and assented to the incorporated document so that the incorporation will not result in surprise or hardship." Syl. Pt. 2, *State ex rel. U-Haul Co. of W. Va. v. Zakaib*, 232 W. Va. 432, 434, 752 S.E.2d 586, 589 (2013).

These three requirements are satisfied here. As discussed *supra*, the warranty deeds of assignment make clear that they are "under and subject to all of the terms and provisions of" the turnkey drilling agreements. App. 511, 516. Moreover, the warranty deeds of assignment describe the "the Turnkey Drilling Agreement, dated June 21, 1979" and "June 7, 1979" with some

specificity—certainly enough to ascertain the identity of those documents. App. 510, 515. Finally, the parties to the warranty deeds of assignment are the same parties that assented to and incorporated the turnkey drilling agreements, making it clear that they had the requisite knowledge.

Bison attempts to resist this straightforward conclusion, first by arguing that the turnkey drilling agreements are unrecorded. This is true—and irrelevant. The warranty deeds of assignment are indisputably recorded. App. 510, 515. It is enough that those recorded instruments incorporate by reference the unrecorded turnkey drilling agreements. *See Roane Cty. Bank*, 124 W. Va. at ___, 22 S.E.2d at 293 ("It is true that another instrument or document, under some circumstances, may be legally embodied in a deed or mortgage by appropriate words of reference, and such instrument need not be recorded.").

Bison also contends that the language in the turnkey drilling agreements reflects a minimum interest, not a depth limitation. Pet'r's Br. 32–33. The Circuit Court rejected this argument and this Court should too. App. 773, ¶ 34. The plain language of the agreements belies any notion that LaMaur was receiving a minimum interest. The turnkey drilling agreements clearly state that LaMaur was entitled to a certain percentage of oil and gas reserves "to a depth through the Benson Sand Horizons"—and no farther. App. 522; see also App. 542. As if the parties' intentions were not sufficiently clear, the same agreements later explain that Doran would "drill the said well to a depth sufficient to thoroughly test through the Benson Sand Horizons expected to be encountered at a depth of approximately 4,700 feet." App. 528; see also App. 548–

Doran conveyed an unrestricted mineral estate to LaMaur, Pet'r's Br. 34–35, but these provisions are entirely consistent with the depth limitation: Doran conveyed all of its right, title, and interest to LaMaur up to the Benson Sand Horizons. Ironically, the cited provisions undercut Bison's contention that Doran conveyed to LaMaur an unrestricted mineral estate. *See, e.g.*, Pet'r's Br. 34. If that were the case and LaMaur's interest extended to the center of the earth, as Bison claims, the parties would have no need to insert a minimum interest provision. The most straightforward conclusion is again the correct one—the quoted language refers to a depth limitation, not a minimum interest.

49. As the Circuit Court concluded, "Bison's argument regarding a minimum burden is simply not tenable given the plain and unambiguous language in the referenced Turnkey Drilling Agreements." App. 773, ¶ 34.

Throughout, Bison implies that the Circuit Court's interpretation violates the four corners doctrine. *See, e.g.*, Pet'r's Br. 31. It does no such thing. The Circuit Court considered the entirety of the warranty deeds of assignment and the turnkey drilling agreements before reaching the only reasonable conclusion—the warranty deeds of assignment unambiguously incorporate the depth limitation contained in the turnkey drilling agreements. As Bison itself acknowledges, it is improper to apply a canon of construction or interpretation when "[a] valid written instrument . . . expresses the intent of the parties in plain and unambiguous language." Pet'r's Br. 31 (quoting Syl. Pt. 1, *Cotiga Dev. Co. v. United Fuel Gas Co.*, 147 W. Va. 484, 484, 128 S.E.2d 626, 628 (1962)). Instead, a court must simply "appl[y] and enforce[]" such a document according to the parties' intent. *Id.* That is exactly what the Circuit Court did here.

2. The Circuit Court's Ruling Does Not Violate the Certain and Definite Reservation Doctrine Because the Turnkey Drilling Agreements Except Bison's Interests in Mineral Rights Deeper than the Benson Sand.

Next, Bison claims that the Circuit Court's ruling that the turnkey drilling agreements contain a depth limitation violates the certain and definite reservation doctrine. Pet'r's Br. 35. Generally, a party wishing "to create an exception or reservation in a deed which would reduce a grant in a conveyance clause which is clear, correct and conventional" must express that exception or reservation "in certain and definite language." Syl. Pt. 2, *G&W Auto Ctr., Inc. v. Yoursco*, 167 W. Va. 648, 648, 280 S.E.2d 327, 328 (1981) (per curiam). For a reservation of

²⁰ Bison directs the Court to several decisions interpreting criminal sentencing statutes to support its position that certain language in the turnkey drilling agreements fix a minimum interest. Pet'r's Br. 33–34. These cases have no applicability to the interpretation of mineral deeds.

mineral rights to be effective, it "must be by clear language. Courts do not favor reservations by implication." *Sharp v. Fowler*, 151 Tex. 490, 494, 252 S.W.3d 153, 154 (1952).

Although an exception or a reservation in a deed must be certain and definite, "the required certainty and definition is not derived solely from the face of the deed." *Belcher*, 212 W. Va. at 425, 573 S.E.2d at 19. To that end, a deed or lease may refer to, or incorporate by reference, another document in order to create an exception or a reservation. *See, e.g., id.* ("We find that the language in the initial 1959 deed to lot six adequately describes the reservations intended by specifically referencing the map which identifies the size and location of those reservations."); *Hope Nat. Gas Co. v. Reynolds*, 126 W. Va. 580, 30 S.E.2d 336, 340–41 (1944) (explaining that a reservation in a deed incorporated by reference acts as a valid reservation of oil and gas rights); *Rock House Fork Land Co. v. Gray*, 73 W. Va. 503, 80 S.E. 821, 823 (1914) ("The general rule is that a plat or survey or other writing referred to in another deed or grant as descriptive of the thing granted, or for the purpose of any limitation or reservation, becomes as much a part of such deed or grant [with respect to] that purpose as if incorporated therein and should be read in connection therewith.").

As discussed *supra*, the warranty deeds of assignment incorporate by reference the turnkey drilling agreements. As such, Bison was on notice of the need to locate and examine the turnkey drilling agreements for any limitations or restrictions. *Belcher*, 212 W. Va. at 425, 573 S.E.2d at 19; *see also Highway Props. v. Dollar Savings Bank*, 189 W. Va. 301, 306, 431 S.E.2d 95, 100 (1993) (per curiam) (explaining that a purchaser is on notice of matters contained in the chain of title "or to the knowledge of which anything there appearing will conduct him" (internal quotation marks omitted)). Here, the turnkey drilling agreements unambiguously limit Bison's interest down to the Benson Sand Horizons. App. 522 (providing that LaMaur "shall be entitled"

to be assigned and shall be assigned not less than 81.25% of all oil and gas reserves in place, to a depth through the Benson Sand Horizons" as to the Ash Lease); App. 542 (providing that LaMaur "shall be entitled to be assigned and shall be assigned not less than 81.25% of all oil and gas reserves in place, to a depth through the Bradford–Kane sand, but not to exceed 4,000 feet with regard to Pennsylvania wells, and through the Benson Sand Horizons with regard to West Virginia wells" as to the Clark Lease). This Court should thus reject Bison's argument that the Circuit Court violated the certain and definite reservation doctrine.²¹

3. The Circuit Court's Ruling Does Not Violate the Greatest Estate Doctrine Because the Turnkey Drilling Agreements Limit Bison's Interest in the Ash and Clark Leases.

Bison argues that the Circuit Court's ruling violates W. Va. Code § 36-1-11, commonly referred to as the greatest estate doctrine. W. Va. Code § 36-1-11 provides that

[w]hen any real property is conveyed or devised to any person, and no words of limitation are used in the conveyance or devise, such conveyance or devise shall be construed to pass the fee simple, or the whole estate or interest, legal or equitable, which the testator or grantor had power to dispose of, in such real property, unless a contrary intention shall appear in the conveyance or will.

W. Va. Code § 36-1-11 (emphasis added). In other words, "[i]n case of doubt, the creation of a fee estate rather than a lesser estate is clearly favored." *Seifert v. Sanders*, 178 W. Va. 214, 216,

²¹ Bison also implies that this Court should reverse because a deed reservation should be construed against the grantor. Pet'r's Br. 36. Although the general rule is that "[d]eed reservations are strictly construed against a grantor and in favor of a grantee," Syl. Pt. 4, *Poulos v. LBR Holdings, LLC*, 238 W. Va. 89, 90, 792 S.E.2d 588, 590 (2016), this principle is not unlimited. "[I]t is only in cases where the intent of the parties to a deed is unclear and no other rule of construction can resolve the ambiguity that doubt is resolved in favor of the grantee." *Belcher*, 212 W. Va. at 424, 573 S.E.2d at 18. Generally, "the polar star which should guide courts in the construction of deeds is the intention of the parties making the instrument." *Id.* As discussed *supra*, the Circuit Court followed this guidance.

358 S.E.2d 775, 777 (1987). "The burden of proving the lesser estate is cast on the party asserting that the estate is less than a fee simple." *Id.*

According to Bison, the warranty deeds of assignment and turnkey drilling agreements reflect a minimum interest—not a depth limitation. As such, Bison argues, it is entitled to "unlimited depth mineral rights and assets." Pet'r's Br. 39. Bison is incorrect. Section 36-1-11 itself reflects that the greatest estate rule only kicks in when "no words of limitation are used in the conveyance or devise." Here, as discussed *supra*, the warranty deeds of assignment unambiguously provide that the Doran–LaMaur conveyance was "under and subject to all of the terms and provisions of, and all of the royalties and other payments reserved in, the instruments identified in Exhibit B hereto," which indisputably includes the turnkey drilling agreements. App. 511, 516. The turnkey drilling agreements in turn limit Bison's interest to a depth "through the Benson Sand Horizons." App. 522, 542. This clear depth limitation does not run afoul of W. Va. Code § 36-1-11.

4. Bison Waived Its Parol Evidence Argument. Alternatively, the Circuit Court Did Not Err Because It Did Not Rely on Parol Evidence.

Finally, Bison advances on appeal an argument it never made below—that the Circuit Court erred by relying on parol evidence to construe the warranty deeds of assignment and turnkey drilling agreements. *Compare* Pet'r's Br. 39–40 (raising the parol evidence argument), with App. 627–30 (failing to mention such an argument). Bison has waived this argument. "One of the most familiar procedural rubrics in the administration of justice is the rule that the failure of a litigant to assert a right in the trial court likely will result in the imposition of a procedural bar to an appeal of that issue." *State v. LaRock*, 196 W. Va. 294, 316, 470 S.E.2d 613, 635 (1996) (internal quotation marks omitted). To that end, West Virginia has adopted the raise-or-waive rule: "The rule in West Virginia is that parties must speak clearly in the circuit court, on pain that,

if they forget their lines, they will likely be bound forever to hold their peace." *Id.* (internal quotation marks omitted). Because Bison failed to raise its parol evidence argument in the Circuit Court, this Court need not consider it now.²² *See Boggess v. Workers' Comp. Div.*, 208 W. Va. 448, 453, 541 S.E.2d 326, 331 (2000) (declining to consider an argument that was not raised below).

Even if this Court sets aside Bison's waiver, it is not entitled to relief because the Circuit Court did not rely on parol or extrinsic evidence when ruling in Antero's favor. The parol evidence rule generally bars a court from considering extrinsic evidence when interpreting an unambiguous deed or lease. *See Paxton v. Benedum-Trees Oil Co.*, 80 W. Va. 187, 94 S.E. 472, 476 (1917); *see also* Syl. Pt. 3, *Kanawha Banking & Tr. Co. v. Gilbert*, 131 W. Va. 88, 89, 46 S.E.2d 225, 227 (1947) ("When a written contract is clear and unambiguous its meaning and legal effect must be determined solely from its contents and it will be given full force and effect according to its plain terms and provisions. Extrinsic evidence of the parties to such contract, or of other persons, as to its meaning and effect will not be considered."). Absent fraud, accident, or mistake in the procurement of the contract, "where the terms of a written instrument are unambiguous, clear and explicit, extrinsic evidence of statements of any of the parties to it made contemporaneously with or prior to its execution is inadmissible to contradict, add to, detract from, vary or explain its terms." *Kanawha Banking & Tr. Co.*, 131 W. Va. at 101, 46 S.E.2d at 232–33.

²² "[T]he raise or waive rule is not absolute." *LaRock*, 196 W. Va. at 316, 470 S.E.2d at 635. "[I]n the most egregious circumstances" this Court will notice unpreserved errors using the plain error doctrine. *Id.* To satisfy plain error, Bison must show (1) "error in the trial court's determination," (2) that "the error was plain or obvious," and (3) that "the error affected substantial rights," which means that "the error was prejudicial and not harmless." *Id.* (internal quotation marks omitted). Even if these criteria are met, the Court has discretion to correct the plain error only "if it seriously affects the fairness, integrity or public reputation of judicial proceedings." *Id.* at 316–17, 470 S.E.2d 635–36 (internal quotation marks omitted). For the reasons discussed above, Bison cannot satisfy any of these requirements.

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